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obligation with respect to logo materials. In sum, Respondents have failed to meet their burden

of proof.

Accordingly, Respondents' motion for summary adjudication that "they did not breach

any duties to the Claimants under the franchise agreements regarding Mail Boxes Etc. logo

materials" is DENIED.

H. Use of Confidential Information

Claimants allege that Respondents breached the franchise agreements and the covenant 0

good faith and fair dealing by "misusing audit and other contract provisions to usurp confidential

vendor and customer lists and in some cases actually terminating the franchise." Complaint,

,-r 158(d). Respondents seek summary adjudication that they did not breach any duties to

Claimants under the franchise agreements in connection with access to or use of any purportedly

confidential information. Respondents' motion is supported by RF Nos. 59-67.

Respondents contend that Claimants cannot prove any breach based on access to

purportedly confidential information. Respondents assert that: (1) the uncontroverted evidence

is that UPS did not take information about the identities of Claimants' customers and then use

that information to solicit those customers or to determine placement of drop boxes or other

access points for UPS services; (2) Claimants cannot show that access to the names of their

customers constitutes a breach of the franchise agreements - Claimants cannot point to any

provision that prohibits MBE from accessing information about their customers; (3) the 07/97,

11/97, and 07/98 agreements explicitly provide that MBE, not Claimants, owns "information

about customers of the MBE Center;" (4) Claimants cannot point to any provision of their

franchise agreements that would prohibit UPS from accessing their customer information; (5) no

provision of the franchise agreements prohibits MBE from accessing customer or vendor

information - to the contrary, their franchise agreements expressly afford MBE the right to audit

or inspect both the finances and operations of the franchise; (6) MBE does not use audits to

obtain or use information about Claimants' customers; and (7) even if the franchise agreements

did prohibit "access" to Claimants' customer or vendor information, Respondents would still be

entitled to summary judgment because Claimants cannot prove damages - the undisputed

evidence is that UPS has not used information about Claimants' customers or vendors to

determine placement of drop boxes or other access points for UPS services or to solicit those

customers.
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In opposition, Claimants' argument is as follows:

Claims Regarding Confidential Information Access As Breach Of Contract Should
Proceed .... Claimants noted that they took steps to protect their customer lists and that
UPS and MBE utilized them to compete against them. (Claimants Decs. ~ 73-86.) This
is a breach ofthe covenant of good faith and fair dealing and a breach of the Claimants'
reasonable expectations.

In the early franchise agreements, Franchisees granted to MBE the right to have an

examination and audit of Franchisees' financial books and records relating to the Center

together with a right to make copies which can be made either by an employee of MBE or an

independent contractor employed by MBE for said purpose. See 06/93, 08/94, & 04/95

Agreements, ~~ 1.03.J and 3.02.A.l (App. Exs. B-G) (emphasis added).

In the later franchise agreements, Franchisees likewise granted to MBE the right to

conduct an examination and audit of all of the Franchisees' financial books and records relating

to the Franchisees' MBE Centers. See 07/97, 11/97, & 07/98 Agreements, § 9.3.d (App. Exs. H­

0). The later franchise agreements further provide that "Franchisee shall submit to MBE ...

reports containing information about customers of the MBE Center. ... All such information

and customer lists shall become the property of MBE, and MBE shall have the right to contact

such customers for business or other reasons at any time."). See App. Exs. H-O, ~ 7.1.k.

The later franchise agreements provide MBE with the right to Claimants' confidential

customer information and provide MBE with the right to contact such customers for business or

other reasons. The implied covenant requires that Respondents exercise their right to contact

Claimants' customers in good faith. Bad faith would necessarily include MBE using Claimants'

customer information to compete with Claimants. Based upon the evidence presented, triable

issues of material fact exist as to whether Respondents exercised the right in question in good

faith. Facts 62 and 73 are disputed. Consistent with this conclusion, Respondents are not

entitled to summary adjudication that they did not breach any duties to Claimants under the

franchise agreements in connection with their access to or use of any purportedly confidential

information. Accordingly, Respondents' motion for summary adjudication that they did not

breach any duties to Claimants under the franchise agreements in connection with access to or

use of any purportedly confidential information is DENIED.
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a. The 7/97, 11/97 and 07/98 Franchise Agreements

Paragraph 1.2(a) of the later franchise agreements provides that "MBE will not establish

I. MBE 2000 and Rolling Thunder

Respondents seek summary adjudication that they did not breach any duties to the

Claimants under the franchise agreements in connection with the Rolling Thunder and MBE

2000 programs.

As noted by Respondents, each of the franchise agreements at issue in this action were

executed prior to 1999. Claimants' opposition makes clear that any of the "terms" of the Rolling

Thunder "agreement" were not announced until May 1999. Based upon the evidence presented,

Claimants are unable to offer any provision in the franchise agreements at issue related to their

claims regarding the Rolling Thunder program. Claimants' opposition also offers no contractual

basis regarding the MBE 2000 program. Claimants' contractual claims regarding these programs

are without merit. Accordingly, Respondents' motion for summary adjudication that they did

not breach any duties to the Claimants under the franchise agreements in connection with the

Rolling Thunder and MBE 2000 programs is GRANTED.

J. Exclusive Territories

Claimants allege that Respondents breached the franchise agreements and the covenant 0

good faith and fair dealing by "placing drop boxes, in-store locations, ASO's, kiosks, The UPS

Stores, or non traditional sites and internet solicitation and services for UPS deliveries within the

territory of claimants and other MBE franchisees and/or in close proximity to the boundaries of

those territories and otherwise having MBE and/or its affiliates conducting delivery services or

otherwise competing in the exclusive territory of claimants." Complaint, ~ 158(h).

Respondents seek summary adjudication that they did not breach any duties to the

Claimants under the franchise agreements as a result of any alleged encroachment into

Claimants' exclusive territories.
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25 franchisee for the operation of an MBE center within the territory." It is undisputed that MBE

has not placed any other MBE-franchised site within Claimants' territories. Consistent

therewith, Respondents have not breached this express provision of the later agreements.

The remaining questions for the Arbitrator are whether an obligation not to compete with

28 II the franchisees can be implied into the agreement, and if so, is there evidence that Respondents
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breached any such implied obligation. "Every contract imposes upon each party a duty of good

faith and fair dealing in its performance and its enforcement." Carma Developers (Cal.), Inc. v.

Marathon Development California, Inc. (1992) 2 Ca1.4th 342,373. "The covenant of good faith

and fair dealing, implied by law in every contract, exists merely to prevent one contracting party

from unfairly frustrating the other party's right to receive the benefits of the agreement actually

made." Guz v. Bechtel National, Inc. (2000) 24 Ca1.4th 317,349. "The covenant thus cannot be

endowed with an existence independent of its contractual underpinnings, and cannot impose

substantive duties or limits on the contracting parties beyond those incorporated in the specific

terms of their agreement." Id. at 349-350. "The covenant prevents a party from acting in bad

faith to frustrate the contract's actual benefits." Id. at 353 n.18.

The terms of the franchise agreements govern any implied duty. The later agreements

include two other provisions which are applicable to the implied covenant analysis. Paragraph

1.2 also provides that:

b .... Unless otherwise agreed by the parties, colleges, universities, hotels,
convention centers, airports, train stations, bus depots, resorts, military bases and similar
facilities shall be excluded from the Territory, and MBE reserves the right to own,
operate or franchise an MBE Center or other business at any such location, whether
inside or outside the Territory.

c. Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that MBE has the right to franchise and/or
operate MBE Centers, in its sole discretion, in any area or territory outside and/or
contiguous to the Territory, regardless of its proximity to Franchisee's MBE Center.
Franchisee further acknowledges and agrees that MBE has the right to own, operate or
franchise any other business, under a different trademark or trade name within the
Territory.

From these provisions, a duty on behalf of MBE could be implied prohibiting MBE from

operating a competing business in Claimants' exclusive territories. The evidence presented

here, consistent with Claimants' argument, is that UPS's entities (not MBE) are competing with

Claimants in their exclusive territories. Unlike the early agreements, the later agreements do not

apply to "affiliates" ofMBE. As result, the Arbitrator will not imply into the later agreements an

obligation on behalf ofMBE's affiliates to not compete with Claimants in Claimants' exclusive

territories. Based upon the evidence presented, Respondents did not breach any duties to the

Claimants under the 7/97, 11/97 and 07/98 franchise agreements as a result of any alleged

encroachment into Claimants' exclusive territories.
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Respondents, however, seek summary adjudication that that they did not breach any

duties to the Claimants under the franchise agreements as a result of any alleged encroachment

into Claimants' exclusive territories. Accordingly, in order to be entitled to the requested

adjudication, Respondents must also show they did not breach any duties to the Claimants under

the early franchise agreements as a result of any alleged encroachment into Claimants' exclusive

territories.

b. The 08/94 and 04/95 Franchise Agreements

The 08/94 and 04/95 Agreements first provide that they grant to "Franchisee the

individual franchised territory within which MBE and Franchisee contractually, mutually agree

to refrain from establishing or franchising others to establish an MBE center." As noted above, i

is undisputed that MBE has not placed any other MBE Centers within Claimants' territories.

Consistent therewith, Respondents have not breached this express provision of these agreements.

The 08/94 and 04/95 franchise agreements also provide, in pertinent part, that:

MBE or our affiliates, if any, will not establish or operate, nor license any other person
to establish or operate a business selling or leasing similar products or services under a
different tradename or trademark within the individual franchised territory specified
within the Franchise Agreement. MBE observes the right to own, operate or franchise a
non-competing business under a different trademark or tradename within the individual
franchised territory. MBE further observes the right to franchise and/or operate MBE
centers or other franchises at out sole discretion in any area or territory outside the
individual franchised territory ... "

For purposes of the present motion, Respondents have not challenged Claimants'

assertion that UPS is an "affiliate" of MBE. Thus under this clause, the initial question is

whether MBE or UPS have established or operated (or licensed any other person to establish or

operate) a business selling or leasing similar products or services under a different tradename or

trademark within the individual franchised territory specified within the Franchise Agreement.

The agreements do not define "establish," "operate," "license," "business," or "similar products

or services."

As an initial matter, triable issues of material fact exist as to whether the UPS drop boxes,

customer centers, ASOs and other pack and ship stores offer "similar products or services" to

those of Claimants. RF No. 70 is disputed. The evidence by Respondents likewise does not

compel the conclusion that UPS's website and drop boxes are not "business[es]." Respondents

have offered evidence that they did not establish and do not operate ASOs and other pack and
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ship stores. Respondents, however, have failed to offer evidence that they did not license any

other person to establish or operate the ASOs or pack and ship stores. In sum, Respondents have

either failed to establish, or triable issues of material fact exist with respect to whether MBE or

UPS have established or operated (or licensed any other person to establish or operate) a

business selling or leasing similar products or services under a different tradename or trademark

within the individual franchised territory specified within the Franchise Agreement. Based upon

the evidence presented, Respondents have failed to establish that they did not breach any express

contractual duties to the Claimants under the 08/94 and 04/95 franchise agreements as a result of

any alleged encroachment into Claimants' exclusive territories. Given Respondents' failure to

meet their burden with respect to this issue, Respondents are not entitled to the requested

adjudication that they did not breach any duties to the Claimants under the franchise agreements

as a result of any alleged encroachment into Claimants' exclusive territories. For this reason,

the Arbitrator need not address whether Respondents met their burden of proof with respect to

the 06/93 Franchise Agreement.

Accordingly, Respondents' motion for summary adjudication that they did not breach an

duties to the Claimants under the franchise agreements as a result of any alleged encroachment

into Claimants' exclusive territories is DENIED.

K. Duty of Good Faith and Fair Dealing

Respondents seek summary adjudication that they did not breach any duty of good faith

and fair dealing to the Claimants. Consistent with the above conclusions, Respondents have

failed to establish that they did not breach any duty of good faith and fair dealing to Claimants.

Accordingly, Respondents' motion for summary adjudication that they did not breach any duty

of good faith and fair dealing to the Claimants is DENIED.

II III. Tortious Interference (2nd Cause of Action)
Respondents seek summary adjudication that Claimants' second cause of action for

tortious interference with contractual rights and prospective economic advantage has no merit.

A. Inducing Breach of Contract

"To prevail on a cause of action for intentional interference with contractual relations, a

plaintiff must plead and prove (1) the existence of a valid contract between the plaintiff and a

third party; (2) the defendant's knowledge of that contract; (3) the defendant's intentional acts

designed to induce a breach or disruption of the contractual relationship; (4) actual breach or
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disruption of the contractual relationship; and (5) resulting damage." Reeves v. Hanlon (2004)

33 Ca1.4th 1140, 1148. "To establish the claim, the plaintiff need not prove that a defendant

acted with the primary purpose of disrupting the contract, but must show the defendant's

knowledge that the interference was certain or substantially certain to occur as a result of his or

her action." Id

Respondents contend that Claimants cannot prove that UPS induced MBE to breach their

franchise agreements. Respondents make four separate arguments in support of this assertion.

1. Breach of Agreements by MBE

Respondents first contend that as a threshold matter, UPS cannot be liable for inducing

MBE to breach Claimants' franchise agreements because, as shown above, MBE did not breach

those agreements. For the reasons noted in the Arbitrator's discussion of Respondents' motion

with respect to Claimants' breach of contract claims, Respondents have failed to establish that

they did not breach the franchise agreements. As a result, Respondents' request for summary

adjudication of Claimant's cause of action for inducing breach of contract, on the grounds of no

breach of the franchise agreements, is DENIED.

Respondents assert that even assuming that there was a breach of the franchise

agreements, "Claimants named UPS itself as a respondent in their claim for breach of those

agreements." Respondents contend that Claimants cannot hold UPS liable in tort for breach of

contracts for which they claim UPS is directly liable because under those circumstances, there is

no contract with a third party.

Parties are entitled to plead in the alternative. Until Claimants' allegations with respect

to UPS's liability for breach of the franchise agreements are resolved, it would be premature for

the Arbitrator to determine whether Claimants' allegations with respect to the franchise

agreements claims preclude Claimants from asserting tortious interference of the same

agreements by UPS. Accordingly, summary adjudication is improper on this ground.

2. Federal Preemption

Respondents contend that Claimants' interference with contract claim fails for the reason

that Claimants impermissibly invoke state law to hold UPS liable for its service and pricing

practices. Respondents first frame Claimants' allegations as follows:

As discussed above, Claimants complain about UPS's offering internet services, placing
drop boxes and ASOs in their territories, requiring "package level detail" for UPS
shipments, purportedly soliciting Claimants' customers, and advertising for The UPS
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Store and its lower prices. Claimants also allege that UPS changed delivery and pickup
times to Claimants and charged them more for UPS services than it charged The UPS
Stores. (FAC ~ 162.)

Respondents assert that federal law - the Federal Aviation Administration Authorizationl

Act of 1994 ("FAAAA") - expressly preempts state law claims "related to a price ... or

service" of carriers such as UPS, citing 49 U.S.C. §§ 14501(c)(I) (motor carriers) and

41713(b)(4) (air and intermodal air/ground carriers). Respondents assert that the FAAAA

preempts claims, like this one, that seek to hold UPS liable under state common law for its

conduct in the marketplace, citing Carsten v. United Parcel Servo Inc., No. Civ. S-95-862

WBS/JFM, 1996 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5798, at *12 (E.D. Cal. Mar. 20, 1996), Western Parcel

Express v. United Parcel Servo of Am., Inc., No. C 96-1526-CAL, 1996 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 18138,

at *2-5 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 3, 1996). Morales v. Trans World Airlines, Inc., 504 U.S. 374 (1992) and

A.lB. Express, Inc. v. FedEx Corp., 358 F. Supp. 2d 239, 253-54 (S.D.N.Y. 2004). Respondents

assert that "Claimants' tortious interference claim seeking to hold UPS liable for serving and

purportedly soliciting customers in Claimants' territories and advertising for the UPS brand is

preempted as a matter oflaw."

In opposition, Claimants contend that the tortious interference claims are not preempted,

citing In re American Airlines, Inc., Privacy Litigation (N.D.Tex.,2005) 370 F.Supp.2d 552,

564, Abdu-Brisson v. Delta Airlines, Inc. (2nd. Cir. 1997) 128 F.3d 77,86 and Air Transport

Ass'n of America v. City and County of San Francisco (9th Cir. 2001) 266 F.3d 1064, 1074.

When a defendant moving for summary judgment based upon the assertion of an

affirmative defense, the defendant has the initial burden to show that undisputed facts support

each element of the affirmative defense." Consumer Cause, Inc. v. SmileCare (2001) 91

Cal.AppAth 454, 468.

The Arbitrator has reviewed each of the preemption cases cited by the parties. The

question for the Arbitrator is whether Claimants' claim for interference with contractual relations

is preempted by the FAAAA. Respondents have not requested summary adjudication of specific

allegations supporting the interference with contract claim. Thus, for purposes of the present

motion, Respondents have the burden to show that federal preemption applies to the entire cause

of action. More specifically, Respondents must offer facts and argument to establish that each of

the alleged wrongful acts supporting Claimants' interference claim are related to UPS's prices or
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serVices. Respondents have failed to do so. As an initial matter, given the number and breadth

of Claimants' allegations, the precise scope of this burden is somewhat unclear. Respondents'

separate statement of facts, however, does not contain a single fact specifically directed to their

preemption defense and/or the specific allegations that support the cause of action. Respondents'

moving papers do address allegations that clearly appear to be related to UPS's prices and

services. However, absent a showing as to how each of the allegations supporting this claim are

related to UPS's prices and services, summary adjudication is inappropriate. Accordingly,

Respondents' motion for summary adjudication of the interference claim on the ground of

federal preemption is DENIED.

3. Privilege to Interfere

Respondents contend that UPS, as the parent of MBE, Inc., had a privilege to "interfere"

with the franchise agreements between MBE, Inc. and Claimants. Respondents assert that this

"privilege is based on UPS's status as MBE, Inc.' s parent corporation and Claimants' allegations

that UPS acted for its own and MBE, Inc.'s financial interest." Respondents assert that some

courts have held as a matter of law that related corporations cannot be liable in tort for

"interfering" with each others' contracts, citing e.g., Freeman v. San Diego Ass'n of Realtors

(1999) 77 Cal. App. 4th 171, 188-89. Respondents assert that other courts have recognized a

qualified privilege that applies when the parent's predominant purpose in inducing the breach is

to further its and the subsidiary's interests, citing Culcal Stylco, Inc. v. Vornado, Inc. (1972) 26

Cal. App. 3d 879, 883; Hamro v. Shell Oil Co. (9th Cir. 1982) 674 F.2d 784,790; Wanlandv.

Los Gatos Lodge (1991) 230 Cal. App. 3d 1507, 1522 and Exxon Corp. v. Super. Ct. (1997) 51

Cal. App. 4th 1672, 1688

Claimants' opposition does not address Respondents' privilege argument.

In Freeman v. San Diego Assn. of Realtors (1999) 77 Cal.AppAth 171, plaintiff real

estate agent sued a countywide multiple listing service (MLS) and the regional real estate

associations that had formed the MLS, alleging violations of the Cartwright Act, including illegal

tying, price fixing, and group boycott. The defendants' demurrers argued that the complaint did

not allege an unlawful price fixing agreement because inter alia the local associations could not

conspire with parent Sandicor to fix prices because they were not separate entities holding

separate and independent economic interests in the sale of a countywide Sandicor MLS. The

court stated in pertinent part that:
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A complaint for unlawful price fixing must allege facts demonstrating that separate
entities conspired together. Only separate entities pursuing separate economic interests
can conspire within the proscription of the antitrust laws against price fixing
combinations. A general demurrer will be sustained where the complaint makes
conclusory allegations of a combination and does not allege with factual particularity that
separate entities maintaining separate and independent interests combined for the purpose
to restrain trade.

Id. at 188-189. (case citations omitted)

Freeman did not find that related corporations cannot be liable in tort for "interfering"

with each others contracts, and is inapplicable to Claimants' claim for interference with contract.

The Arbitrator declines to declare the existence of a absolute privilege of a parent to interfere

with its subsidiary's contracts with third parties.

In Hamra v. Shell Oil Co. (9th Cir. 1982) 674 F.2d 784, the plaintiff, a service station

operator, brought suit against Shell for alleged violations of California's antitrust statutes and for

tortious interference with prospective economic advantage. The plaintiff claimed that Shell

tortiously interfered with his prospective economic advantage by refusing to consent to the

assignment to him of a franchise. The complaint alleged that Shell withheld its consent because

of Hamro' s failure to purchase satisfactory amounts of Shell accessories from Shell. Shell argued

that its conduct was privileged as a good faith effort to protect its financial interest in the service

station. The court stated that:

An action for interference with prospective economic advantage may be
maintained where the right to pursue a lawful business is intentionally interfered with
either by unlawful means or by means otherwise lawful when there is a lack of sufficient
justification. The determination whether Shell's conduct was justified depends upon" 'a
balancing of the importance, social and private, of the objective advanced by the
interference against the importance of the interest interfered with, considering all
circumstances including the nature of the actor's conduct and the relationship between
the parties.'"

In applying this general rule, the California Court of Appeal has relied on
provisions from the Restatement of Torts. Section 769 of the Second Restatement of
Torts provides a specific formulation by which to judge the actions of a person seeking to
influence the conduct of a business in which he or she has a financial interest. That
section states:

One who, having a financial interest in the business of a third person intentionally
causes that person not to enter into a prospective contractual relation with another, does
not interfere improperly with the other's relation ifhe

(a) does not employ wrongful means and
(b) acts to protect his interest from being prejudiced by the relation.
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Id. at 789 ((California) case citations omitted). "The privilege that arises by reason of section

769 is at most a qualified privilege which depends for its existence upon the circumstances of the

case." Lowell v. Mother's Cake & Cookie Co. (1978) 79 Cal.App.3d 13,21.

The Arbitrator has reviewed the cases cited by Respondents. Under California law, there

is a qualified privilege to interfere with a contract. The facts offered by Respondents to

establish the application of the privilege are: (1) UPS is MBE, Inc.s corporate parent; (2) as

alleged by Claimants, UPS acted to advance its own and MBE's interests; and (3) that UPS did

not act with intent of harming MBE franchisees.

Respondents have failed to establish the privilege defense to Claimants' interference with

contract claim. One of the elements of the privilege is that UPS did "not employ wrongful

means." Respondents have failed to offer evidence sufficient to establish this element.

Accordingly, Respondents' motion for summary adjudication of Claimants' interference with

contract claim, on the grounds of privilege, is DENIED.

B. Tortious Interference - Customers

Claimants alleged that they had prospective business relationships with their vendors and

customers including substantial repeat business expectations and goodwill. Complaint, ~ 162.

Claimants allege that Respondents wrongfully, illegally and intentionally interfered with

claimants' prospective business relationships including, but not limited to, advertising for UPS

rather than Mail Boxes Etc., by changing delivery and pickup times to claimants, by interfering

with off locator services for claimants, and by charging Mail Boxes Etc. franchisees higher

amounts or refusing rebates which were provided to converted UPS franchisees. Id.

The elements of the tort of intentional interference with prospective economic advantage

are: (1) an economic relationship between the plaintiff and some third party, with the probability

of future economic benefit to the plaintiff; (2) the defendant's knowledge of the relationship; (3)

intentional acts on the part of the defendant designed to disrupt the relationship; (4) actual

disruption of the relationship; and (5) economic harm to the plaintiff proximately caused by the

acts of the defendant. Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2003) 29 Ca1.4th 1134,

1153-1154. A plaintiff "seeking to recover damages for interference with prospective economic

advantage must plead and prove as part of its case-in-chiefthat the defendant's conduct was

"wrongful by some legal measure other than the fact of interference itself." Id. at 1153-1154.

Thus, in other words, the third element of the tort (above) "also requires a plaintiff to plead
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intentional wrongful acts on the part of the defendant designed to disrupt the relationship." Id. at

1154. "While a plaintiff may satisfy the intent requirement by pleading specific intent, i.e., that

the defendant desired to interfere with the plaintiffs prospective economic advantage, a plaintiff

may alternately plead that the defendant knew that the interference was certain or substantially

certain to occur as a result of its action." Id.

1. Independently Wrongful

Respondents first contend that UPS's conduct was not independently wrongful.

Respondents asserts that Claimants cannot establish that UPS engaged in intentional acts that

were "independently wrongful" by some measure beyond the fact of the alleged interference

itself, citing Korea Supply, 29 Cal. 4th at 1159. Respondents assert that "even assuming that

Claimants could prove that UPS engaged in the conduct that they place at issue, that conduct is

entirely lawful." Respondents assert that:

Claimants cannot identify any law or standard that UPS conceivably could have violated
in providing services to customers in Claimants' territories, advertising for The UPS
Store brand, or providing preferential hours, pricing, and locator services to The UPS
Store franchisees. Moreover, even if they could, the FAAAA preempts the application of
state law to determine whether UPS's service and pricing practices are unlawful or
wrongful. ... Likewise, to the extent that Claimants contend that any conduct in
obtaining customer names violated trade secret laws, that claim fails on its merits and
also is preempted, as set forth ... below. Their claim that UPS's conduct in advertising
for The UPS Store brand violated the Lanham Act also fails, for the reasons set forth in
Section IX, below.

Claimants' opposition makes no argument in response to Respondents' "not

independently wrongful" contention.

"To establish a claim for interference with prospective economic advantage, ... a plaintifl

must plead that the defendant engaged in an independently wrongful act." Korea Supply Co., 29

Cal.4th at 1158 (citations omitted). "An act is not independently wrongful merely because

defendant acted with an improper motive." Id. "An act is independently wrongful if it is

unlawful, that is, if it is proscribed by some constitutional, statutory, regulatory, common law, or

other determinable legal standard." Id. at 1159.

For purposes of the present motion, the initial burden rests with Respondents. Claimants'

pleading does not indicate how each of the allegations that support this claim are "independently

wrongful." As such, it is not surprising that in the present motion, Respondents have failed to

establish that each of the alleged wrongs are not independently wrongful (or otherwise

-37-



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

preempted). To the extent that this case was being tried in court, the Arbitrator would treat the

motion as a motion for judgment on the pleadings, and grant the motion with leave to amend. In

the present arbitration, however, such an approach is not appropriate. At the arbitration, and in

the post-arbitration briefing, Claimants shall clearly and explicitly identify how each of the acts

supporting this claim are "independently wrongful." Failure to clearly satisfy this requirement

will result in the dismissal of this claim.

Accordingly, Respondents' motion for summary adjudication of Claimants' interference

with prospective economic advantage claim, on the grounds that UPS's conduct was not

independently wrongful, is DENIED.

2. Probability of Future Economic Benefit

Respondents next argue that Claimants cannot prove the existence of customer

relationships with the probability of future economic benefit, citing Google Inc. v. Am. Blind &

Wallpaper Factory, Inc., Case No. C 03-05340 JF, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6228, at *38-40 (N.D.

Cal. Mar. 30, 2005). Claimants' opposition, citing Westside Center Associates v. Safeway Stores

23, Inc. (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 507,522, contends that "there is a background of business

experience to estimate the value that has been lost and the likelihood that Claimants would have

received it." Claimants assert that "this case involves Claimants' customers that were converted

by UPS for its own account."

"A plaintiff that wishes to state a cause of action for this tort must allege the existence of

an economic relationship with some third party that contains the probability of future economic

benefit to the plaintiff." Korea Supply Co., 29 Ca1.4th at 1164. "This tort therefore "protects the

expectation that the relationship eventually will yield the desired benefit, not necessarily the

more speculative expectation that a potentially beneficial relationship will arise." Id.

Claimants' arbitration demand generally alleges that "Claimants also had prospective

business relationships with their vendors and customers including substantial repeat business

expectations and goodwill," and that "Respondents wrongfully, illegally and intentionally

interfered with claimants' prospective business relationships." Again, for purposes of the presen

motion, the initial burden rests with Respondents. In order to meet this burden, Respondents

must establish that each of the Claimants cannot prove the existence of customer relationships

with the probability of future economic benefit. Respondents have failed to meet this burden.

Respondents' evidence, at best, is directed at 11 of the 29 Claimants. Respondents, however,
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seek summary adjudication of the entire second cause of action, not just 11 of the Claimants. As

a result of Respondents' failure to address each of the Claimants' customer relationships,

Respondents' motion on this ground necessarily fails. Accordingly, Respondents' motion for

summary adjudication of Claimants' interference with prospective economic advantage claim, 0

the grounds that Claimants cannot prove the existence of customer relationships with the

probability of future economic benefit, is DENIED.
3. Causation

Respondents further contend that Claimants cannot prove causation. "A plaintiff must

establish proximate causation." Korea Supply Co., 29 Ca1.4th at 1158. "Specifically, this

element requires a plaintiff to show that the economic harm it suffered was proximately caused

by the acts ofthe defendant." Id. Consistent with the previous discussion, Respondents have

failed to meet their burden of proof to show that Claimants cannot prove causation, i.e., that

Claimants have no evidence that they have lost any customer with whom they had any

prospective economic relationship based on any wrongful conduct by UPS. The evidence cited

is not applicable to each ofthe Claimants. Accordingly, Respondents' motion for summary

adjudication of Claimants' interference with prospective economic advantage claim, on the

grounds that Claimants cannot prove causation, is DENIED.

4. Privilege

Finally, Respondents contend that UPS's conduct was privileged. Respondents first

assert that for the same reasons that UPS would be privileged to interfere with Claimants'

existing contracts, it also would be privileged to interfere with their prospective economic

advantage. Respondents also assert that because Claimants' action is premised on allegations

that UPS competes with them for customers who ship packages via UPS (see Complaint, ,-r,-r 1,

158), UPS enjoys a competitor's privilege to interfere with Claimants' prospective relationships

with customers.

Claimants' opposition does not address Respondents' privilege argument.

With respect to Respondents' first argument, for the reasons noted above in connection

with Respondents' motion as to Claimants' claim for interference with contract, Respondents

have failed to establish the application of the qualified privilege. Respondents' second argument

relies upon the so-called "competition privilege." "California law has long recognized a

'competition privilege' which protects one from liability for inducing a third person not to enter
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into a prospective contractual relation with a business competitor." Bed, Bath & Beyond of La

Jolla, Inc. v. La Jolla Village Square Venture Partners (1997) 52 Ca1.AppAth 867, 880. "The

privilege applies where (a) the relation between the competitor and third person concerns a

matter involved in the competition between the actor and the competitor, and (b) the actor does

not employ improper means, and (c) the actor does not intend thereby to create or continue an

illegal restraint of competition, and (d) the actor's purpose is at least in part to advance his

interest in his competition with the other." Id. (citing Charles C. Chapman Building Co. v.

California Mart (1969) 2 Ca1.App.3d 846, 855-856) (internal quotations omitted).

Respondents have failed to meet their burden of proof. Respondents have failed to

establish, inter alia, that UPS did not employ improper means. Accordingly, Respondents'

motion for summary adjudication of Claimants' interference with prospective economic

advantage claim, on the ground of privilege, is DENIED.

C. Tortious Interference - Vendors

Respondents contend that Claimants cannot prove tortious interference with prospective

economic advantage with vendors. Claimants' opposition makes no reference to this issue.

Respondents have failed to offer evidence sufficient to negate any element of Claimants'

tortious interference claim with respect to vendors. Accordingly, Respondents' motion for

summary adjudication of Claimants' interference with prospective economic advantage with

vendors claim is DENIED.

IV. Interference with IAMCO and Defamation (3rd and 6th Causes of Action)

Respondents contend that Claimants cannot prove their third and sixth causes of action

for interference with IAMCO and defamation per se.

A. Associational Rights

Claimants' third cause of action alleges violations ofthe California Franchise Investment

Law ("CFIL") against all Respondents. Claimants have waived their claims for violation of

CFIL disclosure requirements. The cause of action, however, also contains allegations regarding

the association rights ofIAMCO. Complaint, ~~ 172- 175.

Respondents seek summary adjudication that Claimants' third cause of action for

violation ofthe association provision ofthe California Franchise Investment Law, California

Corporations Code § 31220, has no merit. Ca1. Corps. Code § 31220 provides as follows:
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It shall be a violation of this division for any franchisor, directly or indirectly, through
any officer, agent or employee, to restrict or inhibit the right of franchisees to join a trade
association or to prohibit the right of free association among franchisees for any lawful
purposes. Notwithstanding Section 31410, a violation of this section shall not constitute
acnme.

Cal. Corps. Code § 31302.5 provides that:

(a) Any person who violates Section 31220 may be sued in the superior court in the
county in which the defendant resides or where a franchise affected by the violation does
business, for temporary and permanent injunctive relief and for damages, if any, and the
costs of suit, including reasonable attorneys' fees. A plaintiff shall not be required to
allege or prove that actual damages have been suffered in order to obtain injunctive
relief (emphasis added)

(b) No action shall be maintained to enforce any liability created under Section 31220
unless brought before the expiration of two years after the violation upon which it is
based or the expiration of one year after the discovery by the plaintiff of the facts
constituting such violation, whichever occurs first.

Respondents first contend that the claim is time-barred. Respondents assert that the

conduct complained of occurred from as early as 2000 (Complaint, ~ 71). Citing Cal. Corp.

Code § 31302.5, Respondents assert that an action under Corporations Code § 31220 must be

"brought before the expiration of two years after the violation upon which it is based or the

expiration of one year after the discovery by the plaintiff of the facts constituting such violation,

whichever occurs first." Respondents assert that Claimants did not file the lAMCO action until

July 2003; and therefore this claim is time barred.

Respondents have failed to establish that the claim is time-barred. The complaint does

not allege a date for the allegedly disparaging statements by MBE and its agents. Paragraph 71

alleges that MBE "also interfered with the ability of MBE franchisees to associate by refusing to

recognize and meet, discuss and negotiate with lAMCO, as reflected in a letter from MBE to

lAMCO dated on or about May 17,2000." While it appear that this particular allegation is time

barred, Respondents have failed to offer any evidence regarding when the allegedly disparaging

comments were made. Absent a date for the alleged wrongs, the Arbitrator is unable to

determine that the claim is barred by the two-year limitations period set forth in § 31302.5.

Respondents' next argument is essentially that there is no evidence of interference with

lAMCO. However, Respondents' evidence on this point is limited to 9 of the 26 Claimants. As

a result, Respondents have failed to establish that Claimants have no evidence of interference
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with IAMCD. Finally, Respondents assert that Claimants cannot show any damage from the

purported interference with their free association rights or right to join IAMCD.

However, Cal. Corps. Code § 31302.5, expressly states that "a plaintiff shall not be

required to allege or prove that actual damages have been suffered in order to obtain injunctive

relief." Claimants' failure to show damages is not a valid basis for summary adjudication of the

claim. Respondents' argument that Claimants cannot show entitlement to injunctive relief as

there is no evidence of ongoing interference was made for the first time in reply. As a result, this

argument is untimely. In sum, Respondents have failed to establish that Claimants' claim for

interference with IAMCD has no merit. Accordingly, Respondents' motion for summary

adjudication that Claimants' third cause of action for violation of the association provision of

Cal. Corps. Code § 31220 has no merit is DENIED.

B. Defamation

Claimants' sixth cause of action is for "Defamation and Disparagement," and alleges at

paragraph 188 that Respondents caused to be published the false slander and libel of claimant, its

officers and directors, referred to elsewhere in this complaint, including but not limited to the

references contained in paragraphs 69 and 70 herein without privilege to do so." Paragraph 69

alleges that in order to stop the growth of IAMCD and its message, MBE employees and agents

disparaged IAMCD and its leadership as "the Philadelphia bunch," "idiots," malcontents, people

who never paid their bills, and people on the verge ofbanlauptcy.

Respondents seek summary adjudication that Claimants' sixth cause of action for

defamation and disparagement has no merit. Respondents contend that statements about

IAMCD or its membership in general cannot support Claimants' defamation claims and that

even assuming that Claimants identified any statements by MBE and UPS employees, none of

the statements are actionable. Respondents assert that the statements at issue (in which MBE

director Donald Higginson referred to IAMCD as the "Pennsylvania bunch" or "Philadelphia

bunch" or the "Philadelphia idiots") are not defamatory - the statements are not assertions of

fact but are instead non-actionable opinion.

Claimants' opposition does not address the defamation claim.

As an initial matter, Claimants' defamation claim is based upon the defamation of

IAMCO. IAMCO is a not a party to this arbitration. Claimants have failed to establish that they

have standing to pursue a claim alleging defamation to IAMCD. Moreover, the statements in the
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1 IIcomplaint (see paragraph 69) are not directed at Claimants, and even if they were, they are not

2 actionable. The "law provides no redress for harsh name-calling." Flowers v. Carville (9th. Cir.

3 2002) 310 F.3d 1118, 1127. Absent any argument by Claimants as to why the statements at issu

4 are actionable, the Arbitrator declines to do so for Claimants. Accordingly, Respondents' motio

for summary adjudication of Claimants' cause of action for defamation and disparagement is
5

GRANTED.
6

/I V. Misappropriation of Trade Secrets (5th Cause of Action)
7 Claimants' fifth cause of action is for breach of the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (Cal. Civi

8 Code Section 3426, et seq.), and is alleged against all Respondents. Claimants allege that they

9 maintained their customer and vendor names and addresses as confidential trade secrets, and that

10 Respondents wrongly obtained, used, and misappropriated Claimants' confidential customer and

11 IIvendor names and addresses and purchase histories. Complaint, ~~ 183-184.

12 II Respondents seek summary adjudication that Claimants' fifth cause of action for

13 IIviolation of Civil Code § 3426 et seq., has no merit. Respondents first argue that Claimants

14 IIcannot state claim for misappropriation of vendor information. Respondents' evidence to show

15 IIthat the identity of vendor is not a secret, RF No.1 09, does not provide evidence that Claimants'

16 vendor lists were not trade secrets.

17 Respondents next assert that Claimants cannot show that the identity of any of their

18 vendors has the requisite independent value to qualify as a trade secret. Respondents, however,

19 fail to offer any evidence to show that the vendor lists do not have independent value. As such,

20 Respondents have failed to meet their burden on this point.

Respondents' final argument vis-a-vis Claimants' vendor list allegations is that
21 "

Respondents did not use information about Claimants' vendors (RF Nos. 63, 112). RF No. 112

22 IIis that "UPS has not used information about Claimants' customers in order to provide service

23 directly to Claimants' customers," citing the Lynn Decl., ~ 3 (App. Ex. 00). This fact is not

24 relevant to the issue of improper use of Claimants' vendor data. RF No. 63 is that "MBE does

25 not use audits to obtain or use information about franchisees' vendors for any purpose other than

26 to ensure that franchisees are using approved vendors," citing Roybal Decl., ~~ 3-7 (App. Ex.

27 II RR) (emphasis added).

28 II Respondents have failed to meet their burden of proof to show that all Respondents did
not use information about Claimants' vendors. Given this failure, Respondents' motion for
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summary adjudication of the fifth cause of action for violation of Civil Code § 3246 et seq. is

DENIED. The Arbitrator would briefly note that, with respect to Respondents' preemption

argument, even if the Arbitrator were to agree with Respondents, the argument is only applicable

to UPS. Thus, the preemption defense does not support summary adjudication of the entire

cause of action, which is alleged against all Respondents.

VI. Lanham Act (8th Cause of Action)

Claimants' eighth cause of action is for violation ofthe Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125,

and is alleged against all Respondents. To prevail on a false advertising claim under the § 43(a)

of the Lanham Act, a plaintiff must establish the following elements:

In re Century 21-RE/MAX Real Estate Advertising Claims Litigation, 882 F.Supp. 915, 922

(C.D.Cal. 1994) (citation omitted).

Respondents seek summary adjudication that Claimants' Eighth Cause of Action for

violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125, has no merit.

The first issue with respect to the Lanham Act claim is whether Claimants have any basis

to assert the claim against any of the MBE Respondents or Jim Amos. It is undisputed that UPS

acquired the franchise agreements from Old MBE and BSG in April 2001, and that Amos

resigned in November 2002. Claimants' complaint alleges that beginning in February of2003,

and continuing until sometime in or around March of2003, Respondents held a series of

presentations around the country to MBE franchisees designed to obtain their conversion to The

UPS Store including by signing the Gold Shield amendments (hereafter the "Gold Shield Road

Shows"). Complaint,,-r 121. Claimants alleged by about April 7, 2003, The UPS Franchise

Conversion Program, through the above fraud, deception and threats, succeeded in deceiving,

pressuring and coercing over 3,000 former MBE franchisees, approximately ninety percent ofthe

entire distribution system, to become "The UPS Store" franchisees. Id,,-r 135. The act that
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(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)
(5)

in its ... advertisements, defendant made false statements of fact about its own
product;
those advertisements actually deceived or have the tendency to deceive a
substantial segment of their audience;
such deception is material, in that it is likely to influence the purchasing decision;
defendant caused its falsely advertised goods to enter interstate commerce; and
plaintiff has been or is likely to be injured as a result of the foregoing either by
direct diversion of sales from itself to defendant, or by lessening of the good will
which its products enjoy with the buying public."
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1 II forms the basis of the Lanham Act claim is the Respondents launching "a fraudulent and highly

2 II destructive advertising campaign about the conversion falsely asserting that Mail Boxes Etc. is

3 now becoming "The UPS Store" with new lower prices from UPS." Id., ~ 198. Given these

4 allegations, Old MBE and BSG clearly were not involved in the advertising campaign and are

not proper parties to the cause of action. Likewise Amos resigned well in advance of the launch
5

of the national campaign. Paragraph 67 of Claimants' declarations, stating that "Some of these
6 II

ads ran in test cells in 2002," is insufficient to raise a triable issue with respect to Amos's

7 II liability for the April 2003 national advertising campaign. Accordingly, Respondents Old MBE,

8 Amos and BSG are improper parties to the 8th cause of action.

9 Respondents, however, seek summary adjudication of the entire cause of action as to all

10 Respondents. The above argument does not dispose of the Lanham Act claim as to MBE and the

11 II UPS entities. Respondents thus assert that Claimants cannot establish that the statement about

12 II the inauguration of the UPS Store and its new low prices was false or misleading. "To establish

13 elements one and two, a plaintiff can show either: (1) that the challenged advertisement is

14 "literally false" or (2) while the advertisement is literally true, it is 'likely to mislead or confuse

15 consumers.''' Kournikova v. General Media Communications Inc., 278 F.Supp.2d 1111, 1117..
Respondents have failed to establish that the statement was true. As an initial matter,

16 II
Respondents have failed to offer evidence that the "We're becoming The UPS Store" was true or

17 II not misleading. In any event, the advertisement itself creates triable issues of material fact

18 regarding whether the statement "We're becoming The UPS Store" is false or misleading. As

19 such whether or not the later part of the statement ("new low prices") is actionable, Respondents

20 have failed to establish that the entire statement is not false or misleading.

21 II Respondents' final argument is that Claimants cannot prove damages. The evidence

22 II cited by Respondents in their motion and separate statement, RF No. 121, Complaint ~~ 141, 142

23 and App. Ex. GG are insufficient to establish that Claimants' damages allegation has no merit.

24 In light of the foregoing, Respondents have failed to establish that the Lanham Act cause

25 of action has no merit as to all Respondents. Accordingly, Respondents' motion for summary
adjudication of the Lanham Act cause of action is DENIED.

26

IIVII. Business and Professions Code §§ 17200 and 17500 (9th Cause of Action)
27

Claimants' 9th cause of action alleges violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § § 17200 et

28 II seq., and 17500 et seq., and is alleged against all Respondents. After incorporating the prior
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allegations of the complaint, Claimants allege "the above actions of respondents constituted

illegal trade practices in violation of Section 17200 of the California Business & Professions

Code including but not limited to violations of the CFIL, the FTC Act, USC Section 45, and the

FTC Franchise Disclosure Rule, 16 CFR Part 436, and the Sherman Antitrust Act, 15 U.S.C.

Section 1, et. seq. Claimants also allege that the above actions of respondents also constituted

fraudulent trade practices in violation of Sections 17200 and 17500 of the California Business &

Professions Code and unfair trade practices in violation of Section 17200 of the California

Business & Professions Code. Paragraph 209 of the complaint alleges more than 40 "unlawful,

unfair or fraudulent" acts

Business and Profession Code § 17200 [also referred to as "the UCL"] provides that:

As used in this chapter, unfair competition shall mean and include any unlawful, unfair or
fraudulent business act or practice and unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising
and any act prohibited by Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 17500) of Part 3 of
Division 7 of the Business and Professions Code.

Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203 provides that:

Any person who engages, has engaged, or proposes to engage in unfair competition may
be enjoined in any court of competent jurisdiction. The court may make such orders or
judgments, including the appointment of a receiver, as may be necessary to prevent the
use or employment by any person of any practice which constitutes unfair competition, as
defined in this chapter, or as may be necessary to restore to any person in interest any
money or property, real or personal, which may have been acquired by means of such
unfair competition ....

Bus. & Prof. Code § 17204 provides that "Actions for any relief pursuant to this chapter

shall be prosecuted exclusively in a court of competent jurisdiction .. , by any person who has

suffered iniurv in fact and has lost monev or orooertv as a result of such unfair competition."

The highlighted portion was added by Proposition 64.

Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500 [also referred to as the "F AL"] provides that:

It is unlawful for any person, firm, corporation or association, or any employee thereof

with intent directly or indirectly to dispose of real or personal property or to perform
services, professional or otherwise, or anything of any nature whatsoever or to induce the
public to enter into any obligation relating thereto, to make or disseminate or cause to be

made or disseminated before the public in this state, or to make or disseminate or cause to
be made or disseminated from this state before the public in any state, in any newspaper

or other publication, or any advertising device, or by public outcry or proclamation, or in
any other manner or means whatever, including over the Internet, any statement,
concerning that real or personal property or those services, professional or otherwise, or
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concerning any circumstance or matter of fact connected with the proposed performance
or disposition thereof, which is untrue or misleading, and which is known, or which by
the exercise of reasonable care should be known, to be untrue or misleading, or for any
person, firm, or corporation to so make or disseminate or cause to be so made or
disseminated any such statement as part of a plan or scheme with the intent not to sell
that personal property or those services, professional or otherwise, so advertised at the
price stated therein, or as so advertised. Any violation of the provisions of this section is
misdemeanor punishable by imprisonment in the county jail not exceeding six months, or
by a fine not exceeding two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500), or by both that
imprisonment and fine.

Bus. & Prof. Code § 17535, entitled "Obtaining Injunctive Relief," provides that:

Any person, corporation, firm, partnership, joint stock company, or any other association
or organization which violates or proposes to violate this chapter may be enjoined by any
court of competent jurisdiction. The court may make such orders or judgments, including
the appointment of a receiver, as may be necessary to prevent the use or employment by
any person, corporation, firm, partnership, joint stock company, or any other association
or organization of any practices which violate this chapter, or which may be necessary to
restore to any person in interest any money or property, real or personal, which may have
been acquired by means of any practice in this chapter declared to be unlawful.

Actions for injunction under this section may be prosecuted by ... any person who has
suffered iniurv in fact and has lost money or property as a result of a violation of
this chapter .... [The highlighted portion of § 17535 was added by Proposition 64]

Respondents seek summary adjudication that Claimants' Ninth Cause of Action for

violation of California Business & Professions Code Sections 17200 and 17500, has no merit.

Respondents make three arguments to defeat the claims, each of which will be addressed in turn

below.

Respondents first contend that in light of Proposition 64, Claimants lack standing to

assert claims for violation of the DCL and FAL. Respondents asserts that consistent with Judge

Quinn's ruling, reliance or causation is "an integral element" to all three prongs of the DCL, not

just the "fraudulent" prong, and to all of the FAL.

California law currently is in flux regarding the impact of Proposition 64 on a party's

claims for violations of the DCL and FAL. Even assuming that the Arbitrator were to find that

that there now is a reliance/causation requirement (which the Arbitrator expressly declines to do

for purposes of this motion), the problem with Claimants' claim would be a pleading issue.

Given the impending commencement of the arbitration, a ruling requiring Claimants to amend

the complaint to allege reliance would be inappropriate. Moreover, Respondents standing
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argument is directed to specific claims in the 9th cause of action, related to the Gold Shield

amendments. Respondents have failed to establish that Claimants lack standing to assert each

and every wrong alleged in the cause of action. Accordingly, Respondents' motion for summary

adjudication of the 9th cause of action due to Claimants' lack of standing is DENIED.

Respondents next contend that even if Claimants had standing to sue, they cannot show a

violation by Respondents of the DCL or FAL, i.e., a violation of any statute/provision of law.

Claimants contend that Respondents have not established a prima facie case negating the

allegedly improper actions that support the claim.

Respondents' motion attempts to address a large number of the numerous alleged wrongs

contained in the 9th cause of action. Respondents, however, have failed to meet their burden of

proof to establish that each of the numerous alleged wrongful acts do not support a violation of

Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 and 17500. As such, summary adjudication on the 9th cause of

action on this ground is inappropriate.

Finally, Respondents contend that the claim fails because Claimants cannot show they are!

entitled to any remedy available under the DCL or the FAL. Again, Respondents have failed to

establish that for each alleged wrongful act, Claimants are not entitled to any remedy under the

DCL or the FAL.

Accordingly, Respondents' motion for summary adjudication of the 9th cause of action is

DENIED. Respondents have failed to meet their burden of proof to show that an element ofthe

claim(s) cannot be established.

Consistent with the foregoing discussions, Respondents' motion for summary judgment

of Claimants' complaint is DENIED.

IT IS SO ORDERED

Dated:

Hon. Ina Gyemant (Ret.)
Arbitrator
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